IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 09-386

ANTHONY E. SMITH,

Petitioner,

-vs-

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW-
DIRECT CONFLICT
FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF
FLORIDA, THIRD DISTRICT

CARLOS J. MARTINEZ
Public Defender
Eleventh Judicial Circuit of Florida
1320 N.W. 14th Street
Miami, Florida 33125
(305) 545-1928

Beth C. Weitzner
Assistant Public Defender
Florida Bar Number 203221
Counsel for Petitioner

INTRODUCTION

This case is before this Court on discretionary review of an express and direct conflict between the Third District Court of Appeal's decision below with *Franqui v. State*, 699 So. 2d 1332 (Fla. 1997) and *State v. Alen*, 616 So. 2d 452 (Fla. 1993).

In the proceedings below, the Petitioner, Anthony E. Smith, was the Appellant/Defendant and the Respondent, State of Florida, was the Appellee/Plaintiff. In this brief, the parties will be referred to as they stood in the lower courts, by proper name, or as Petitioner and Respondent. The symbol "T." will denote the transcripts of the proceedings below. The symbol "R." will denote the record on appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Facts

Petitioner Anthony Smith, a black man, was charged with robbery, burglary, and resisting/assaulting police officers in a predominantly black neighborhood known as Brownsville. (R. 6-18; T. 306, 311, 334). At trial, the defense was misidentification. (T. 247-252; 443-454). On appeal, the issue was the denial of a defense peremptory strike against Earl Buchholz, Jr. – a tennis celebrity – based on the trial court’s finding that the strike was motivated by animus against persons with German sounding names. There was no evidence that Mr. Buchholz is German-American, none of the witnesses or attorneys had German-sounding surnames, and the trial had nothing to do with Germany. (T. 68).

During voir dire, Mr. Buchholz identified himself as the chairman of the NASDAQ Open, a prestigious international tennis tournament held annually in Key Biscayne, Florida. The trial judge had heard of Mr. Buchholz, and greeted him by his nickname “Butch.” (T. 94). Mr. Buchholz provided the following information in response to standard questioning: he had previously served on a criminal jury, in a case that was resolved during deliberations by a plea; his family had been the victim of a robbery at their home in Boca Raton; and he had never been accused of a crime. (T.

94-95). No information was elicited from Mr. Buchholz about his national origin or his ethnicity:

MR. BUCHHOLZ: My name is Earl Buchholz, Jr.

I was born 9/16/1940. I reside in Unincorporated Dade. I have lived here about 17 years. My occupation is I'm chairman of the NASDAQ 100 Open, which is a tennis tournament at Key Biscayne.

THE COURT: Isn't your name Butch?

MR. BUCCHOLZ [sic]: Yes, hello. How are you doing?

My wife is a domestic engineer. I have three grown children. I have served on a jury before when I was living in St. Louis. It was a criminal charge and they settled the case, plea bargained.

I do not have any law enforcement people in my family. We have been robbed when we lived in Boca. Our house was robbed.

I have never been accused of a crime. And I have not been a witness.

(T. 94-95).

During the parties' exercise of challenges, defense counsel stated that he was peremptorily striking Mr. Buchholz. (T. 211). The trial judge expressed consternation: "Wait a minute. What about Buchholz? You are peremptorily challenging him?" (T.

211). When defense counsel said “[y]es,” the trial judge directed the prosecutor to seek an explanation for the strike. (T. 211). Defense counsel was perplexed: “Is he a member of a distinct minority group which would render him ----” The trial judge broke in that Buchholz sounded to him “like a German name,” adding archly that “[A]nybody qualifies under our present great, deeply thought out appellate decisions.”

(T. 211):

MR. CASASNOVAS [defense counsel]: We are going to ask for a peremptory on Mr. Buchholz, No. 12.

MS. MATO [prosecutor]: Judge, I would - - -

THE COURT: Wait a minute. What about Buchholz? You are peremptorily challenging him?

MR. CASASNOVAS: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Are you requiring an explanation?

MS. MATO: Yes, Judge.

MR. CASASNOVAS: Is he a member of a distinct minority group which would render him ----

THE COURT: Buchholz?

MR. CASASNOVAS: Yes.

THE COURT: Sounds to me like a German name.

MR. CASASNOVAS: This is a recognized minority group within the law, I believe. Mr. Buchholz ----

THE COURT: I suppose there is -- anybody qualifies under our present great, deeply thought out appellate decisions.

(T. 211).

Defense counsel provided two record-supported reasons for his strike of Mr. Buchholz: he was the victim of a robbery at his house, and he had previously served on a criminal jury. (T. 211-12). The trial judge summarily rejected both reasons as being “not [] genuine.” (T. 211). Defense counsel protested that the judge’s rulings were over his objection. (T. 212).

MR. CASASNOVAS: He is a victim of a house robbery which makes him a victim of a crime. And he can harbor bias or any difficulty in this case ----

THE COURT: The Court will rule that is not a genuine objection and it is overruled.

MR. CASASNOVAS: We have several others.

THE COURT: Go ahead.

MR. CASASNOVAS: He served on a jury.

THE COURT: He served on a jury in Ohio.

MS. WRIGHT [co-defense counsel]: St. Louis.

MR. CASASNOVAS: In a criminal case.

MS. MATO: Those were the same reasons I requested that juror No. 3 be excused.

THE COURT: We are done with Juror No. 3.

MS. MATO: The reasons they said were not the same reasons they are saying for Juror No. 12 [Buchholz].¹

THE COURT: I don't think that the objections to Buchholz are genuine. I'm going to overrule it.

MR. CASASNOVAS: That is over our respectful objection.

THE COURT: That's correct.

(T. 211-12).

¹ Juror "No. 3" was Orlando Miguel Colas, whom the State had attempted to strike peremptorily. (R. 32; T. 209-10). The prosecutor had argued the same two reasons (crime victim, prior jury service) in attempting to strike Juror Colas. The prosecutor is here suggesting that because the trial judge disallowed the Colas strike, he must disallow the Buchholz strike. However, as defense counsel pointed out at the time, a juror's experience as a crime victim would normally inure to the benefit of the State. (T. 209).

Furthermore, the reason defense counsel wanted Colas, and his dissimilarity from any other juror, was that he had been present in court observing his fiancée's son receive a harsher sentence than those meted out to other defendants the same day. (T. 81-82, 146, 210).

During the remainder of voir dire, the defense repeatedly renewed its objection to being denied the right to exercise a peremptory challenge against Buchholz (T. 216, 221), and just before the jury was sworn, defense counsel accepted the panel “subject to” his prior objections “[s]pecifically with regard to Mr. Buchholz, we disagree with Your Honor, respectfully.” (T. 223).

Mr. Buchholz served on Mr. Smith’s jury. (R. 32; T. 223-24). At the conclusion of trial, Mr. Smith was adjudicated guilty of the charged offenses and was sentenced to life imprisonment. (R. 92, 95-97).

The Issue Raised Below and the Third District’s Decision

The defense appealed the trial court’s denial of the strike of Juror Buchholz to the Third District Court of Appeal on the grounds that: Contrary to *Melbourne*’s² first-step requirement, the State had failed to identify Buchholz as a member of any cognizable racial, gender or ethnic group; nor could the trial judge’s musing that Buchholz sounded German substitute for a basis in the record for identifying Buchholz as a member of a protected class. Furthermore, the reasons defense counsel provided to explain his strike of Buchholz – his status as a robbery victim and his prior service on a criminal jury – were record-supported and race-neutral. Finally, in the absence of

any conceivable reason for concluding that the defense was motivated by animus against German-Americans or Germany, the trial court abused its discretion in denying the strike. *See* Initial Brief of Appellant, at 8-20.

In its answer brief, the State argued for the very first time that the real reason for the defense strike of Buchholz was not because he might be German-American, but because he was white. *See* Brief of Appellee, at 8. The State claimed that the trial judge understood that it was Mr. Buchholz' race, not his ethnicity or national origin, that triggered the *Melbourne* proceeding. The State added that the trial judge was right to deny the Buchholz strike because it had denied the State's strike of a different juror upon finding that the same reasons – being a robbery victim and serving on a criminal jury – were pretextual when urged by the State. *See* Brief of Appellee, at 6-11.

In the Third District Court of Appeal's initial decision, Judge Leslie Rothenberg – the two other judges concurring “in result only” – found that defense counsel had waived objection to the forced-seating of Mr. Buchholz. According to Judge Rothenberg, the transcript reflected that everyone understood that the State's objection to the Buchholz strike was based upon his “ethnicity,” that everyone believed that Buchholz “appeared to be of German descent,” that everyone agreed that being of

² *Melbourne v. State*, 679 So. 2d 759 (Fla. 1996).

“German descent” was a “recognizable” group, and that the defense did not object to giving reasons for striking Buchholz. Therefore, the opinion concluded, the issue was waived and not subject to appellate review. *See* slip opinion *Smith v. State*, No. 3D05-90 (Fla. 3d DCA Jan. 31, 2007) at www.3dca.flcourts.org/Opinions/3d05-0090.pdf.

A timely motion for rehearing and rehearing *en banc* specifically disputed the opinion’s assertion that “the parties all agreed or accepted that being German placed Buchholz in a recognizable group or class.” *See* Motion for Rehearing and Rehearing *En Banc* at 3-4. To the contrary, the defense maintained, nothing in the record supported the suggestion that anyone claimed or agreed that Mr. Buchholz belonged to a German ethnic group or had any German ancestry.

Almost two years to the day following its initial opinion,³ the Third District denied rehearing, but withdrew its former opinion and entered the decision under review, again authored by Judge Rothenberg. *Smith v. State*, 1 So. 3d 352 (Fla. 3d DCA 2009). The panel now redacted all references to a “waiver” by defense counsel, instead affirming on the basis of this Court’s opinion in *Franqui v. State*, 699 So. 2d 1332 (Fla. 1997) and a few related cases.

³ The Third District’s initial opinion was issued on January 31, 2007, and the substituted opinion was issued on January 28, 2009.

Jurisdictional Basis for this Court's Review

Franqui recognized a narrow exception to *Melbourne*'s first-step requirement that the opponent of a peremptory strike demonstrate on the record the juror's membership in a cognizable group as the basis for its claim of invidious discrimination. This narrow exception applies only where the record reflects that the juror is a member of a protected group, and that the trial judge has determined that the juror's membership in that group was the basis for invoking a *Melbourne* inquiry. In *State v. Alen*, 616 So. 2d 452(Fla. 1993), this Court recognized that surname alone is insufficient to demonstrate ethnicity.

In *Franqui*, 699 So. 2d at 1335, the narrow exception applied because this Court held that the record established, and the trial court understood, that the State's invocation of *State v. Neil*, 457 So. 2d 481 (Fla. 1984) was based on the prospective juror's ethnicity as a Hispanic: his name was Aurelio Diaz, he was born and raised in Havana, Cuba, and the trial was held in Miami.

It is the Third District's disregard of *Alen*, and misapplication of *Franqui*'s narrow exception to this case – a record barren of the juror's ancestry, national origin or ethnicity, a record barren of any basis for defense animus against German-Americans or Germany – that is the reason for discretionary review by this Court.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This case involves a black defendant accused of crimes in a predominantly black neighborhood. Earl Buchholz, Jr. (“Butch” Buchholz), a sports celebrity known to the trial judge, was a prospective juror. There was no evidence in voir dire that Buchholz was born in Germany or was German-American. There was no evidence at trial relating to Germany or German-Americans. On the sole basis that Buchholz sounded “German” to him, the trial judge – remarking that “anybody qualifies under our present great, deeply thought out appellate decisions” – determined that the juror was a member of a protected class, then summarily rejected as pretextual the defense’s record-supported, race-neutral, well-established reasons for the strike.

This Court has accepted jurisdiction due to a conflict with *Franqui v. State*, 699 So. 2d 1332 (Fla. 1997) and *State v. Alen*, 616 So. 2d 452 (Fla. 1993). *Alen* held that surname alone does not determine a juror’s ethnicity. *Franqui* carved a narrow exception to *Melbourne*’s first-step requirement that the party opposing a strike establish the juror’s membership in a protected class for those rare instances in which, notwithstanding a general objection, the record is abundantly clear that the juror’s membership in the protected class is precisely the reason for opposing the strike.

Franqui has no application to a case like this in which, other than the trial

judge's untutored hunch that the surname sounds German, there is no indication that the juror is, or identifies as German, and in which there is no conceivable reason why the strike's proponent would seek to exclude Germans from the venire. Indeed, to apply *Franqui* to a case like this would blunt *Melbourne*'s purpose to eradicate racial animus from jury selection, and would thwart the legitimate use of peremptory challenges in producing an impartial jury.

ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT CLEARLY ERRED IN DENYING MR. SMITH'S RIGHT TO EXERCISE A PEREMPTORY CHALLENGE WHERE (1) THE STATE FAILED TO DEMONSTRATE THAT THE JUROR WAS A MEMBER OF A PROTECTED GROUP, (2) THE TRIAL COURT WITHOUT ANY RECORD BASIS SPECULATED THAT THE JUROR'S LAST NAME SOUNDED GERMAN, (3) DEFENSE COUNSEL GAVE NEUTRAL REASONS SUPPORTED BY THE RECORD, AND (4) NOTHING SUGGESTED THAT THE CHALLENGE WAS MOTIVATED BY PERNICIOUS DISCRIMINATION AGAINST GERMAN-AMERICANS.

Introduction

Over the years since *State v. Neil*, 457 So. 2d 481 (Fla. 1984), this Court has remained deeply committed to eliminating racial discrimination in the courtroom by creating procedures intended to eradicate the invidious exercise of peremptory challenges in jury selection. It has extended the constitutional protections of *Batson*⁴ and *Neil* to include gender and ethnicity, as well as race. And, by eliminating the first-step burden that *Batson* places on the opponent of a peremptory strike to establish a *prima facie* case of discrimination, this Court has streamlined the procedure for eliciting the proponent's reasons for seeking to exercise the peremptory strike. Under

⁴ *Batson v. Kentucky*, 476 U.S. 79 (1986).

Melbourne v. State, 679 So. 2d 759 (Fla. 1996), a party need only object and demonstrate the prospective juror’s membership in a constitutionally-protected group to trigger *Melbourne*’s next two steps: (2) the proponent’s giving of race-neutral reasons for the strike, and (3) the trial court’s evaluation of the genuineness of the reasons. *Melbourne*, 679 So. 2d at 764.

While *Melbourne*’s streamlined procedure is intended to reduce the existence of pernicious discrimination in court, there is potential for abuse, requiring the “good faith obligations” of the parties “to refrain from making frivolous . . . objections.” *State v. Whitby*, 975 So. 2d 1124, 1127 (Fla. 2008) (Pariante, J. concurring) (footnote omitted). Frivolous claims of racial discrimination, which invoke *Melbourne* not in order to reduce pernicious discrimination, but solely to thwart the legitimate use of peremptory challenges, mock this Court’s important mission to end unconstitutional discrimination.

In this case, Mr. Smith was denied the right to peremptorily strike a juror in the absence of any evidence of discriminatory purpose. The State failed to follow the procedure required under *Melbourne*, and the trial court acted capriciously in denying Mr. Smith the right to peremptorily challenge a juror.

The juror was Earl “Butch” Buchholz, Jr., a sports celebrity. As he announced

in voir dire, he is chairman of the NASDAQ 100 Open, an international tennis tournament held annually at Key Biscayne. (T. 94). The State never attempted to identify Mr. Buchholz as a member of a protected group against which defense counsel was purposefully discriminating. (T. 211-12). It was the trial judge who speculated that Buchholz was a German name, and prodded the State to seek an explanation for the strike. (T. 211). While defense counsel acknowledged that German-Americans might be a cognizable class, he did not acknowledge, nor was there any basis to believe that Mr. Buchholz belonged to that class. (T. 55-225). Undeterred, the trial judge stated that “anybody qualifies under our present great, deeply thought out appellate decisions.” (T. 211).

This case involved a black defendant charged with robbery in a predominantly black Miami neighborhood known as Brownsville. There were no German witnesses, no issues related to Germany, and no evidence that Mr. Buchholz’ national origin is German, or that he speaks German, or affiliates himself in any way with a German-American ethnicity. Defense counsel’s record-supported reasons for striking Mr. Buchholz – he was a victim of a robbery, and had served on a criminal jury – were well-established, race-neutral grounds for exercising a peremptory strike. Nothing in the record suggested that these reasons were a pretext for anti-German animus. Given

these *bona fide*, cogent, race-neutral, record-supported reasons, and the absence of any conceivable basis for counsel to discriminate against a juror with a German-sounding surname, the State did not meet its heavy burden to prove that the peremptory strike was motivated by impermissible prejudice. *Melbourne v. State*, 679 So. 2d at 764. The trial court’s ruling is therefore clearly erroneous.⁵

1. State’s Failure to Establish *Melbourne*’s First Step

Peremptory challenges are presumed to be exercised in a racially nondiscriminatory manner. *Hoskins v. State*, 965 So. 2d 1, 7 (Fla. 2007). To overcome the presumption, a party objecting to the other’s use of a peremptory challenge on racial grounds must comply with the first step of *Melbourne v. State*, 679 So. 2d 759, 764 (Fla. 1996). To satisfy this first step, the opponent must: “a) make a timely objection on that basis,” and “b) show that the venireperson is a member of a distinct racial group.” *Melbourne*, 679 So. 2d at 764 (footnotes omitted). The fundamental

⁵ In reviewing whether the opponent of the strike has met *Melbourne*’s first step of objecting and demonstrating on the record the prospective juror’s membership in a protected group, the appellate court looks to the record to see if the opponent has raised this required predicate. *Melbourne, supra*. Throughout the process, the burden of persuasion to prove purposeful discrimination never leaves the opponent of the strike. *Melbourne*, 679 So. 2d at 764. The trial court’s evaluation of the genuineness of the reasons, under *Melbourne*’s third step, is subject to the clearly erroneous standard of review. *Id.* at 764-65.

requirement that the opponent identify the juror's membership in a protected group has existed since *State v. Neil, supra*. It is the essential predicate for evaluating whether a peremptory challenge is being used to exclude a juror solely because he or she belongs to a constitutionally-protected group.

Franqui v. State, 699 So. 2d 1332 (1997) established a narrow “general objection” exception to *Melbourne*'s first-step requirement that the strike's opponent establish that the venire person belongs to a protected class. The narrow exception applies only where it is **perfectly obvious** that the juror's membership in a protected class is the basis for opposing his strike.⁶

In *Franqui*, the State made only a general objection to the defense's attempt to

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