IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC09-386 DCA CASE NO. 3D05-90

ANTHONY E. SMITH,

Petitioner,

-VS-

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

APPEAL FROM THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

BILL McCOLLUM Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

RICHARD L. POLIN Miami Bureau Chief Florida Bar No. 0230987

ANSLEY B. PEACOCK Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0669253 Attorneys for the State of Florida Office of the Attorney General 444 Brickell Avenue, Suite 650 Miami, FL 33131 Telephone:(305) 377-5441 Facsimile: (305) 377-5655

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

Ordinarily, the failure to object to the opposing party's challenge would result in a waiver of the issue because the defense must first establish a prima facie case of purposeful discrimination. Trial defense counsel did not have an opportunity to object because the military judge sua sponte raised the issue. Accordingly, we considered the issue as if the trial defense counsel had objected to the assistant trial counsel's peremptory challenge. The burden then shifted to the assistant trial counsel to provide a race-neutral and gender-neutral explanation.

Id. at 3 (internal citations omitted).

In *People v. Bell*, 675 N.W. 2d 894 (Mich. Ct. App. 2003), after the defendant attempted to exercise a peremptory strike on a White juror, the trial court *sua sponte* raised a challenge and concluded the challenge was based on race.

Id. at 896. Prior to determining that the trial court erred in denying the peremptory challenge, the Michigan Court of Appeals first examined whether the trial court has the right to *sua sponte* raise a *Batson* challenge. The court found that "it is clear from the reasoning of *Batson* and its progeny that the United States Supreme Court recognizes a trial court's authority to unilaterally raise such an issue to ensure the integrity of the judicial process." *Id.* After examining decisions from other jurisdictions, the court found that "it is within the discretion of the trial court to conduct a *Batson* hearing, even absent an objection." *Id.* at 897.

The Washington Court of Appeals also determined that the trial court has the ability to *sua sponte* raise a *Batson* challenge. *State v. Evans*, 998 P.2d 373 (Wash. App. 2000).

Accordingly, when a trial judge presides over a trial where the peremptory challenge is being used in an invidiously discriminatory way, that judge may, in his or her discretion, act to protect the rights secured by the equal protection clause by raising a *Batson* issue. Failure to act in such a situation runs the substantial risk of casting doubt on the fairness of the judicial process. Taking appropriate action in such a situation promotes respect for the law. And taking such action is consistent with a court's considerable discretion in conducting judicial proceedings in a way that is fair to all. In short, a judge need not sit idly by while the right to participate in our judicial system, free of bias, is infringed by the discriminatory use of peremptory challenges.

Id. at 379-80. See also Brogden v. State, 649 A.2d 1196, 1200 (Md. App. 1994)

("A trial judge need not sit idly by when he or she observes what he perceives to be

racial discrimination in the exercise of peremptory challenges. He is clearly entitled to intervene."); *Lemley v. State*, 599 So. 2d 64 (Ala. Ct. App. 1991) ("a trial judge is authorized to conduct a *Batson* hearing, even in the absence of an objection by the State to defense counsel's exercise of his peremptory strikes.").³

Other jurisdictions have placed limitations on the right of a trial court to conduct a *sua sponte Batson* hearing. *Doe v. Burnham*, 6 F.3d 476, 481 (7th Cir. 1993) ("Judges should invade a party's discretion to strike potential jurors only in narrow circumstances."); *Hitchman v. Nagy*, 889 A.2d 1066 (N.J. App. 2006) ("Requiring the trial court to identify a prima facie case of discrimination before initiating a *Batson/Gilmore* inquiry will avoid a chilling effect on counsel's further exercise of peremptory challenges."); *Williams v. State*, 669 N.E. 2d 1372 (Ind. 1996) (holding that a trial court may conduct a *sua sponte* Batson hearing after a prima facie showing of discrimination has been met). However, even these jurisdictions do not prohibit a trial court from *sua sponte* raising a *Batson* challenge, only that the right is subject to limitations.

The practice, as discussed in case law from Alabama, Washington, Maryland, and Michigan is the better practice, and should be followed in the State

³ Further, the Maryland Court of Appeals in *Brogden* found that "'the *Batson* analysis applies with equal force to the exercise of peremptory challenges in a manner discriminatory to blacks or whites." *Brogden*, 649 A.2d at 1201 (*quoting Gilchrist v. State*, 627 A.2d 44 (Md. App. 1993).

of Florida. This is because allowing a party to strike jurors based on discriminatory grounds, solely because the opposing party fails to make an objection, is not in accordance with the purpose of peremptory challenges.

Whether a discriminatory challenge is invoked by the defense or the state, if a trial court allows prospective jurors to be precluded from jury service on the basis of race, "it is a willing participant in a scheme that could only undermine the very foundation our system of justice – our citizens' confidence in it."

Williams, 669 N.E. 2d at 1377 (quoting Georgia v. McCollum, 505 U.S. 42, 49-50 (1992)).

Further, since the State of Florida already determined that a prima facie case of discrimination is not required to satisfy the first step, there is no need to now impose this requirement on a trial court who determines that *Melbourne* inquiry is necessary. The trial court is uniquely situated to determine credibility, and an appellate court, based on a cold record, should not second guess credibility assessments made by the trial court. *Rodriguez v. State*, 753 So. 2d 29 (Fla. 2000). *See Hall v. Daee*, 602 So. 2d 512, 514 (Fla. 1992) ("It may well be that the challenges were properly exercised but that that fact would not be apparent to someone not in attendance at the trial. The propriety of the challenge, however, might be readily apparent to the judge presiding over the voir dire.").

In the instant case, prior to attempting to exercise a peremptory strike on Juror Buchholz, Petitioner peremptorily challenged Juror Ingrid Benitez, Juror

Sharon Polinski, Juror Nieves Torrens, and Juror Marlene Lorie. (T. 201-07, 212. 214-16). While the ethnic or racial groups of these jurors were not established in the record. Petitioner did name the stricken Black Jurors in an effort to demonstrate that the state was using peremptory challenges in a discriminatory manner. Those jurors named by Petitioner as being Black were Juror Khadijah Wallace, Juror Alicia Seay, Juror Odette Adderly, and Juror Zandra Cue. (T. 216-19). In fact, out of the seven peremptory challenges that the state attempted to use or did use, five were the subject of a Melbourne inquiry. For the seven jurors that Petitioner attempted to exercise peremptory challenges on, including Juror Buchholz, the state challenged three of the strikes under Melbourne. Thus, based on the numerous Melbourne inquiries that were made, the trial court was uniquely situated to determine whether the challenges raised the question of whether they were being exercised in a discriminatory manner, and his decision to conduct a Melbourne inquiry for Juror Buchholz, interrupting the state who did ultimately request an inquiry, should not be found to be error based on a review of the cold record.⁴ This Court has stated that "[i]f we are to err at all, it must be in the way

⁴ Three out of the five, Juror Buchholz, Juror Polinski, and Juror Lorie, peremptory challenges used by Petitioner appear to be against White Jurors, based on their last names. Additionally, this is based on the fact the parties identified the other jurors subject to peremptory challenges as Black or Hispanic, and based on the fact that Petitioner, a Black male, identified the seated jury as all White or White Hispanic. Thus, the trial court was uniquely positioned to determine and observe that

least likely to allow discrimination," *Slappy*, 522 So. 2d at 21-22, thus the trial court did not abuse its discretion in conducting a *Melbourne* inquiry and determining the reasons proffered by Petitioner were not genuine race-neutral reasons.

C. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in determining that the race-neutral reasons provided by Petitioner were not genuine, and thus correctly denied the peremptory challenge.

Thus, since the general objection raised by the state, prior to being interrupted by the trial court, was adequate to raise a *Melbourne* inquiry pursuant to *Franqui*, or in the alternative, the trial court properly exercised its ability to *sua sponte* raise a *Melbourne* inquiry, the Third District Court of Appeal correctly examined whether Petitioner failed to provide a genuine race-neutral reason. For step three in the three-step procedure set forth in *Melbourne*, the trial court must determine whether the race-neutral reasons provided by a defendant are genuine, or whether they are pre-textual. This examination is not based on the reasonableness of the explanation, only the genuineness. *Melbourne*, 679 So. 2d at 759. Relevant circumstances to consider "whether the explanation is pretextual include such factors as the racial makeup of the venire; prior strikes exercised against the same

Petitioner was attempting to strike White and Hispanic jurors as a result of their ethnic group, and not for genuine, race-neutral reasons.

racial group; a strike based on a reason equally applicable to an unchallenged venireperson; or singling out the venireperson for special treatment." *Rodriguez*, 753 So. 2d at 40.

In the instant case, Petitioner objected to the state's use of a peremptory challenge against Juror Colas, and after listening to the state's race neutral reasons for the strike, the trial court found the reasons to be pretextual and denied the use of the peremptory challenge. (T. 209-10). Almost immediately after this inquiry, Petitioner exercised a peremptory challenge on Juror Buchholz and proceeded to provide the same race neutral reasons that were found to be pre-textual for Juror Colas. (T. 211-12). After Petitioner set forth his race-neutral reasons, the state brought to the trial court's attention that these were the same reasons that were found to be pretextual during the *Melbourne* inquiry concerning Juror Colas. (T. 212). In fact, an examination of the two jurors demonstrates they were similarly situated.

Juror Colas had previous served on one criminal jury and one civil jury. He served on a criminal jury six or seven years ago and the jury reached a verdict. (T. 80). He stated that his home had been burglarized three times. The most recent home burglary occurred three years ago. (T. 81). For family members that had been accused of committing crimes, he stated that his fiancée's son had been arrested and convicted. (T. 80-1). This occurred in Pennsylvania, and while in

court, he "wondered why some people had a longer sentence than he did. That was it. I didn't really think that it was unfair." (T. 81-2).

Juror Buchholz, stated that he served on criminal jury in Missouri, but that while in deliberations the defendant accepted a negotiated plea.⁵ (T. 94-5). He stated that he had no family members accused of committing any crimes, and that his home had been robbed when he lived in Boca.⁶ (T. 94-5). The alternate juror, Shirley Smith, was also similarly situated to Juror Buchholz and Juror Colas. Juror Smith stated that she served on a civil jury that reached a verdict and that she was the victim of a crime, her purse had been stolen from her residence. (T. 105-6). She also stated that her son was a victim, he had been wrongfully accused of drug trafficking. (T. 106). Further, she stated that she had a daughter who was employed as a corrections officer. (T. 106). Defendant did not object to Juror Smith being seated as an alternate juror, even though she had a similar background to Juror Buchholz. (T. 222).

⁵ Juror Buchholz stated that his jury service was in Missouri, thus while no party inquired into how long ago this service occurred, since he had resided in Dade County for seventeen years, it is plausible that his jury service was over seventeen years ago.

⁶ Juror Buchholz had previously stated that he had resided in unincorporated Dade County for seventeen years, thus it plausible that the home robbery that occurred in Boca was seventeen years ago. Further, as no questions were further inquired about being the victim of a crime, it is not clear whether it was in fact a home burglary, or whether it was a robbery.

Petitioner argues that Juror Buchholz and Juror Colas were, in fact, not similarly situated, however, Petitioner failed to raise this argument in the trial court. After the state informed the trial court that the two jurors were similarly situated, Petitioner did not raise the argument that Juror Colas had experience with the criminal justice system as a result of his fiancée's son being arrested and convicted, and therefore, was different from Juror Buchholz. (T. 211-12). Thus, the trial court was not provided with the opportunity to determine whether the two jurors were in fact not similarly situated since Petitioner failed to challenge the state's assertion. Since this argument was not raised at the trial court, it cannot now be an argument used to establish the genuineness of Petitioner's race-neutral reasons for attempting to exercise a peremptory strike on Juror Buchholz. See Austin v. State, 679 So. 2d 1197, 1199 (Fla. 3d DCA 1996), rev. denied 689 So. 2d 1068 (Fla. 1997) ("the defendant failed to properly preserve the additional pretextual arguments by not raising the issues during the *Neil* inquiry."); *Johnson* v. State, 717 So. 2d 1057 (Fla. 1st DCA 1998) (holding that a claim that the jurors were similarly situated was not preserved for appeal because the claim was not raised in the trial court); Lidiano v. State, 967 So. 2d 972 (Fla. 3d DCA 2007) (same).

Therefore, the Third District Court of Appeal correctly determined that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in conducting a *Melbourne* inquiry and

correctly determined that Petitioner failed to provide a genuine race-neutral reason for the peremptory challenge. This decision follows this Court's decisions in *Franqui v. State*, 699 So. 2d 1332 (Fla. 1997), and *State v. Alen*, 616 So. 2d 452 (Fla. 1993), and the general principle that "any doubt concerning whether the objecting party has met its initial burden must be resolved in that party's favor." *State v. Holiday*, 682 So. 2d 1092, 1093 (Fla. 1996). To reach Petitioner's result through public policy arguments would be in contradiction to the decisions established by this Court and the fact that trial courts are encouraged to err on the side of granting a *Melbourne* inquiry. To hold otherwise would be to place more emphasis on form over substance, which was condemned by the First District Court of Appeal in *Murray v. Haley*, 833 So. 2d 877 (Fla. 1st DCA 2003).

D. This Court should revisit whether harmless error applies to wrongfully denied or granted peremptory challenges in light of the United States Supreme Court Case of *Illinois v. Rivera*, 129 S.Ct. 1446 (2009).

In *Busby v. State*, 894 So. 2d 88 (Fla. 2004), this Court held that it is reversible error when a legally objectionable juror sits on a jury. *Id.* at 104. This Court noted that "it is interesting to note that only a bare majority of state courts require a showing that a biased juror actually sat on the jury panel. Nineteen other states in addition to Florida require reversal when a defendant is wrongly denied

the use of a peremptory challenge." *Id.* However, since this decision, the United States Supreme Court decided *Illinois v. Rivera*, 129 S.Ct. 1446 (2009), which holds that the Constitution permits a state to choose between harmless error review and automatic reversal when a trial court erroneously denies a defendant's peremptory challenge. *Id.* at 1452-54. This is a result of the fact that there is no federal constitutional right to peremptory challenges. *Id.* at 1453. *See* Case Comment, *Peremptory Challenges – Harmless Error Doctrine*, 123 Harv. L. Rev. 212 (2009), for a discussion on *Rivera v. Illinois* and its impact on the evolution of peremptory challenges.

Thus, in light of *Illinois v. Rivera*, this Court should revisit whether the harmless error doctrine is applicable to the denial of peremptory challenges. The U.S. Supreme Court recognized that "peremptory challenges are within the States' province to grant or withhold, [and] the mistaken denial of a state-provided peremptory challenge does not, without more, violate the Federal Constitution." *Id.* at 1454. Thus, since the Court found that the denial of a peremptory challenge does not deprive a defendant of the fundamental elements of fairness at trial, under state law the trial court's denial of Petitioner's peremptory challenge cannot be so fundamental to require reversal without first conducting a harmless error analysis.

CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE, the State of Florida respectfully requests an Order of this

Court affirming the decision of the district court.